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Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2021

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the financial report
of Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd (the entity) for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the auditor’s report thereon.

Directors
The Directors of the entity at any time during or since the end of the financial year, up to the date
of this report are:

Mr Peter Richard Gaydon, BCom, CA, MAICD
Chairman
Independent Non-Executive Director
Age 71

Mr Gaydon was previously employed by the international accounting firm Ernst & Young for over
40 years and was client service partner to a number of insurance companies in Australia. Mr
Gaydon was also involved in insurance industry development activity across Asia and was with
Ernst & Young in Japan for almost 6 years. Mr Gaydon is currently a Director of Magenta Shores
Golf Club.
Member of the Board Audit, Board Risk and Board Remuneration Committees.
Director and Chairman since 2016.

Mr Claude Jacques Chèvre, MSc
Deputy Chairman
Non-Executive Director
Age 54

Mr Chèvre is a member of the Executive Board of Hannover Rück SE and a member of various
other Boards within the Hannover Re Group of companies.
Member of the Board Remuneration Committee.
Director since 2011 and Deputy Chairman since 2012.

Ms Susan Granville Everingham, B.Ec LLM (Tax), CPA, GAICD
Independent Non-Executive Director
Age 62

Ms Everingham has held a number of senior positions within Henry Davis York, BT Financial
Group, Commonwealth Bank and a number of law firms and has had over 33 years’ experience in
the financial services industry. Ms Everingham has extensive experience as a Director and
currently sits on the Board of Destination Southern NSW Ltd, Equity Trustees Superannuation Ltd
and HTFS Nominees Pty Ltd atf Hub 24 Super Fund.
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Chair of the Board Audit and Board Remuneration Committees and member of the Board Risk
Committee.
Director since 2017.

Mr Jean Jacques Henchoz, BA PolSc, MBA
Non-Executive Director

Age 57

Mr Henchoz is Chair of the Executive Board of Hannover Rück SE and a member of various other
Boards within the Hannover Re Group of companies.
Director since 2019.

Mr Gerd Obertopp, Actuary (DAV)
Managing Director
Age 61

Mr Obertopp has been in the Reinsurance industry for over 33 years and has previously been
Managing Director of entities in the Hannover Re Group in South Africa and Hong Kong. Mr
Obertopp is also a member of the FSC Life Board Committee.
Managing Director since 2015.

Mr Robert John Wylie, BA
Independent Non-Executive Director
Age 72

Mr Wylie has previously held a number of senior positions within the insurance industry and has
had over 40 years’ experience in the financial services industry. Mr Wylie has extensive
experience as a Director.
Chair of the Board Risk Committee and member of the Board Audit Committee.
Director since 2017.
In accordance with the entity's Constitution, at least one third of Directors (or the number nearest
one third) retire from office at each annual general meeting. Retiring Directors may nonetheless be
available for re-election at that annual general meeting provided that their term of office has been
no longer than ten years in total.

Company Secretary
Mr David Tallack BEc, CPA, AGIA has held the position of Company Secretary since 2006. Mr
Tallack is a member of Governance Institute of Australia and holds a Graduate Diploma of Applied
Corporate Governance.
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Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Directors’ meetings
The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number
of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the entity during the financial year are:

Director

*# Mr P Gaydon
# Mr C Chèvre
*# Ms S Everingham
Mr JJ Henchoz
* Mr R Wylie
Mr G Obertopp
A
B
*
#

-

Directors’
Meetings

Board Audit
Committee
Meetings

Board Risk
Committee
Meetings

Board
Remuneration
Committee

A

B

A

B

A

B

A

B

3
3
3
3
3
3

3
3
3
3
3
3

2
2
2
-

2
2
2
-

4
4
4
-

4
4
4
-

4
4
4
-

4
4
4
-

number of meetings attended
number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year
member of Board Audit and Board Risk Committee
member of Board Remuneration Committee

Principal activities
The principal activities of the entity during the course of the financial year were the transaction of
life reinsurance and life insurance business. The entity provides risk carrying and associated
services to insurance offices transacting life and disability insurance risk business. It also
provides risk carrying and associated services to employers and trustees of superannuation
plans in respect of group life insurances and retail policyholders via direct marketed distribution
arrangements.

Review and results of operations
The entity recorded a profit before tax for the 2021 financial year of $12.7m (2020: loss of
$11.7m). The profit was primarily due to favourable claims experience and reserve run-off,
including the reduction to the Covid-19 reserve provisioned in 2020. The entity however, incurred
losses on its IBNR reserve from strengthening of actuarial assumptions.
The entity’s fixed interest portfolios incurred losses in 2021, due to rising bond yields. The
impact of higher yields on the entity’s fixed interest portfolio was, however, largely offset by the
entity’s interest rate sensitive policy liabilities.
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Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Significant changes in the state of affairs
In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the
entity that occurred during the financial year under review that are not otherwise dealt with in this
report or financial statements.

Dividends
The Company declared a dividend of $5m on 3 March 2022. (2021: Nil).

Events subsequent to reporting date
The Company declared a dividend of $5m on 3 March 2022. Other than this dividend, there has
not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any
other item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the
Directors, to affect significantly the operations of the entity, the results of those operations, or
the state of affairs of the entity, in future financial years.

Likely developments
The entity will continue to pursue its objective of providing insurance and reinsurance products to
clients and policyholders in a manner that generates beneficial outcomes for those clients and
policyholders. The entity will also continue to seek appropriate returns on shareholders' equity
and long term growth in its business consistent with increased profits on a year to year basis.

Environmental regulation
The operations of the entity are not subject to any particular and significant environmental
regulation under any law of the Commonwealth of Australia or of any States or Territories. The
entity has not incurred any liability (including rectification costs) under any environmental
legislation.

Indemnification and insurance of Directors and Officers
Indemnification
In accordance with the entity’s Constitution, the entity has agreed to indemnify all current and
past Directors and Officers of the entity to the fullest extent permitted by the law, against a
liability incurred by that person as a Director or Officer of the entity including, without limitation,
legal costs and expenses incurred in defending an action.
No such insurance cover has been provided for the benefit of any external auditor of the entity.
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Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2021
Insurance Premiums
Since the end of the previous financial year, the entity has paid insurance premiums in respect
of Directors' and Officers' liability and legal expenses insurance contracts for current and former
Directors and Officers including Executive Officers of the entity. The Directors have not included
details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance contract, as such disclosure is prohibited under the
terms of the contract.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The Auditor’s Independence Declaration is included after the Corporate Governance Statement
and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the financial year.

Rounding off
The entity is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports)
Instrument 2016/191 and in accordance with that Instrument, amounts in the financial report and
Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise
stated.

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered Accountants, continue in office in accordance with section
327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

P. R. Gaydon
Chairman

Sydney
25 March 2022
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Corporate Governance Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2021
This Statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place throughout the financial year,
unless otherwise stated.

Board of Directors
Role of the Board
The Board, acting in accordance with the Life Insurance Act 1995 and the Insurance (Prudential
Supervision) Act 2010 (jointly “the Life Acts”), has a duty to take reasonable care and use due diligence
in relation to the interests of the owners and prospective owners of policies referrable to the Statutory
Funds of the entity.
The Board needs to be mindful of its duty to act in the interest of policyholders as well as act in interests
of the entity’s shareholder.
To fulfil these roles, the Board is responsible for the overall Corporate Governance of the entity including:








approving the entity's strategic direction;
establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of these goals;
internal controls and management information systems;
appraising and monitoring financial and other reporting;
capital management;
promoting and monitoring the entity’s risk culture; and
risk management, including tax risk management.

Composition of the Board
The names of the Directors of the entity are set out in the Directors' Report. The Board currently
comprises six Directors (of which three are independent Non-Executive Directors) with a broad range of
expertise and experience appropriate to the entity's business and the industry which it operates in. In
accordance with the entity's Constitution, at least one third of Directors (or the number nearest one third)
retire from office at each annual general meeting. Retiring Directors may nonetheless be available for reelection at that annual general meeting, provided that their term of office has been no longer than ten
years in total.
Board Processes
To assist it in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a Board Charter and Board
Audit, Board Risk, Fit & Proper and Board Remuneration Committees with their own Charters.
The Board delegates the operation and administration of the entity to the Managing Director who is
accountable to the Board.
The full Board currently holds three scheduled meetings each year, plus any other meetings at such other
times as may be necessary to address any specific significant matters that may arise. The agenda for
meetings include financial reports, technical and investment reports and any legal and statutory matters if
required. The Board Book is circulated in advance and Executives are available to be involved in Board
discussions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
Recognition and Management of Risk
The Board has established a framework for identifying areas of significant business risk and maintaining
appropriate and adequate controls and monitoring procedures, in addition to ensuring compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements. The framework is documented in the Board’s Risk Management
Strategy. The Board is responsible for reviewing and overseeing the Strategy and ensuring the appropriate
corporate risk culture governance structure.
The Risk Management Strategy operates within the context of the Board’s documented risk appetite.
Adequacy of Capital
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the entity, and each statutory fund, has adequate capital to
meet its obligations under a wide range of circumstances. The Board has adopted a Target Capital
position and an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) that is documented in the
Board’s ICAAP Summary Statement.

Board Audit Committee
The responsibilities of the Board Audit Committee (Audit Committee) include reviewing compliance with
the entity’s accounting policies and internal control framework and the industry’s regulatory environment
and advising the Board of Directors on the quality and reliability of financial information prepared for use
by the Board in determining policies or for inclusion in the financial report. In addition, the performance of
the auditors and the adequacy of the internal audit plans are reviewed by the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee has a documented Charter approved by the Board. The Chairperson may not be the
Chairperson of the Board.
The Managing Director, the Company Secretary, Appointed Actuary, Internal Audit and Appointed Auditor
are invited to Audit Committee meetings. The Appointed Auditor and the Internal Auditor meets at least
once a year with the Audit Committee without management being present.

Board Risk Committee
The Board Risk Committee (Risk Committee) is responsible for assisting the Board of Directors through
its oversight of the implementation and operation of the Company’s Risk Management Framework.
The Risk Committee has a documented Charter approved by the Board. The Chairperson may not be the
Chairperson of the Board.
The Managing Director, Chief Risk & Compliance Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Company Secretaries,
Appointed Actuary, Senior Corporate Actuary, Appointed Auditor and Internal Auditor are invited to the
Risk Committee meetings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

Board Remuneration Committee
The Board Remuneration Committee (Remuneration Committee) is responsible for conducting regular
reviews of the Remuneration Policy, making recommendations to the Board on changes to the
Remuneration Policy and making annual recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the
Managing Director, direct reports to the Managing Director and any other person whose activities may, in
the Board’s opinion, affect the financial soundness of the Company.
The Remuneration Committee has a documented Charter approved by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee is selected from the Non-Executive Directors of the Board with a minimum of three members.
The Chairperson of the Remuneration Committee must be an independent Director with the majority of
members being independent Directors.

Remuneration of the Board
All Directors' remuneration is determined on a bi-annual basis by the shareholder.

Fit and Proper Policy
The Board has adopted a Fit and Proper Policy under which the Board assesses annually the responsible
persons (including individual Directors) of the entity for their fitness and proprietary in holding their
responsible person positions.

Financial supervision
The Life Acts govern the principal activities of the entity and identify responsibilities of the Board with
respect to operations. In addition, the entity is required to comply with the provisions of the Corporations
Act 2001. The Board seeks to discharge its responsibilities in a number of ways:


an annual business plan and budget is reviewed and approved by the Board;



three Board meetings are held to monitor performance against budget and financial benchmarks;



Directors are responsible for ensuring financial statements that are presented to the parent entity and
regulatory bodies are prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1038 Life
Insurance Contracts, the Financial Sector (Collection of Data) Act 2001 and the Corporations Act
2001;



the entity’s Appointed Actuary is responsible for investigating the financial condition of the entity
including the valuation of policy liabilities, solvency and capital adequacy requirements in accordance
with the standards applied by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) and for providing
advice to Executive Management and the Board as required under Prudential Standards and the Life
Acts;



Investment Guidelines are approved by the Board. Investment management decisions in accordance
with the requirements of the Guidelines are delegated to an external investment manager in
accordance with an Investment Management Agreement; and
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For the year ended 31 December 2021


adoption of various policies such as the Risk Appetite Statement, Risk and Capital Management
Guideline, Target Capital, ICAAP Summary Statement, Recovery Plan, Remuneration Policy, Tax
Risk Management Policy, Information Security Management System and Fit & Proper Policy.

Ethical standards
Code of Conduct
The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct that requires all Directors, managers and employees to act
with the utmost integrity and objectivity in their dealings with business partners, regulators, the
community and employees, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and performance of the entity.
Conflict of Interest
Directors are required to keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could
potentially conflict with those of the entity. Details of Director related entity transactions with the entity
are set out in the notes to the financial report.
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pwc
Auditor's Independence Declaration
As lead auditor for the audit of Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd for the year ended 31 December
2021, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and
(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

R Balding
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Sydney
25 March 2022

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 2001
T: +612 8266 0000, F: +612 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au
Level 11, 1PSQ, 169 Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW 2150, PO Box 1155 Parramatta NSW 2124
T: +6 1 2 9659 2476, F: +612 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Note
Revenue
Life insurance contract premium revenue
Outw ards reinsurance expense

2021
$’000
1,788,234
(1,227,820)
_______

Net life insurance premium revenue
Interest income
Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Other income

2020
$’000
1,721,251
(1,180,395)
_______

560,414

540,856

83,568

79,308

(150,585)
2,397
_______

71,302
2,844
_______

495,794
_______

694,310
_______

(980,240)
933,205
_______

(903,757)
1,155,691
_______

(47,035)

251,934

8(a)

(234,046)

(762,745)

8(a)

164,063
_______

142,262
_______

(117,018)

(368,549)

(363,852)
(2,297)
_______

(336,044)
(1,411)
_______

(483,167)
_______

(706,004)
_______

12,627

(11,694)

7(a)

Total revenue and other incom e
Claim s and expenses
Life insurance contract claims expense
Reinsurance recoveries revenue
Net life insurance claims recovery/(expense)
Change in life insurance contract liabilities
Change in reinsurer’s share of life insurance
contract liabilities

Other expenses
Finance costs paid

7(b)
20

Net claim s and expenses
Profit/(loss) before incom e tax
Income tax (expense)/benefit

16(a)

(6,723)
_______

23,720
_______

Profit for the year attributable to the entity

7(c)

5,904
_______

12,026
_______

Other com prehensive incom e
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation reserve movement

35

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Defined benefit plan reserve movement
Income tax on defined benefit plan reserve movement

16(a)

Total com prehensive incom e for the year

1,318
(395)
_______

27
(8)
_______

6,862
_____ _

12,117
_____ _

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction w ith the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2021

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

172,707
133,738
3,393,564
4,253
65
55,136
6,197
25,192
_________

128,241
128,393
3,310,474
4,599
968
60,672
8,709
28,479
_________

3,790,852
_ _____ _

3,670,535
_ _____ _

76,334
33,000
6,850
2,236,793
842,469
47,000
_________

76,477
35,418
7,998
2,002,620
1,006,478
_________

Total liabilities

3,242,446
_________

3,128,991
_________

NET ASSETS

548,406
_________

541,544
_________

150,000
57,895
340,511
_________

150,000
56,937
334,607
_________

548,406
_ _____ _

541,544
_ _____ _

Note

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Property, plant and equipment
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets
Right of use assets

17
9
18
10
16(b)
12
20

Total assets

Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liability
Employee benefits
Gross life insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurers’ share of life insurance contract liabilities
Subordinated loans

11
20
13
8(a)
8(a)
22

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Retained profits

14(a)
14(b)

TOTAL EQUITY

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction w ith the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share
Capital
$’000
Balance at 1 January 2021

Translation
Reserve
$’000

Defined
Benefit
Reserve
$’000

Retained
Profits

$’000

$’000

$’000

Total

150,000

4,527

60,000

334,607

541,544

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

5,904

5,904

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation
Net defined benefit liability

-

35
-

923

-

-

35
923

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

-

35

923

-

5,904

6,862

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

Total comprehensive income for the year
Issuance of fully paid up shares
Balance at 31 December 2021

-

-

-

-

-

-

__________

__________

__________

__________

___________

__________

150,000

4,562

__________

__________

Share
Capital
$’000
Balance at 1 January 2020

(7,590)

Other
Reserve

Translation
Reserve
$’000

(6,667)
______ ____

Defined
Benefit
Reserve
$’000

340,511

548,406

___________

__________

Other
Reserve

Retained
Profits

$’000

$’000

$’000

Total

105,000

4,455

60,000

322,581

484,427

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

12,026

12,026

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation
Net defined benefit liability

-

72
-

19

-

-

72
19

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

Total comprehensive income for the year
Issuance of fully paid up shares
Balance at 31 December 2020

(7,609)

60,000
_____ _____

-

72

19

-

12,026

12,117

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

__________

45,000

-

-

-

-

45,000

__________

__________

__________

__________

___________

__________

150,000

4,527

__________

__________

(7,590)
______ ____

60,000

334,607

541,544

_____ _____

___________

__________

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

15

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021
2021
$’000

Note

2020
$’000

Cash flow from operating activities
Premium received
Retrocession premium paid
Policy payments
Commissions paid
Reinsurance and other recoveries received
Interest paid - subordinated loans
Payments to suppliers and employees
Income tax paid
Interest received
Other revenue received

1,781,713
(1,227,819)
(971,823)
(314,251)
930,783
(526)
(45,515)
(959)
82,673
2,397
______

Net cash inflow from operating activities

17

236,673
______

1,779,966
(1,181,583)
(954,850)
(115,891)
1,195,645
(52,663)
(566)
75,775
3,093
______
748,926
______

Cash flow from investing activities
Payments for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Payments for property, plant & equipment
Payments for system development costs

(1,670,498)

(1,942,480)

1,437,204
(233)
(2,085)
______

1,151,905
(524)
(3,986)
______

(235,612)
______

(795,085)
______

Issued fully paid up share capital
Lease payments
Subordinated loans received

(3,568)
47,000
______

45,000
(1,142)
______

Net cash inflow from financing activities

43,432
______

43,858
______

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

44,493

Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the financial year

128,241

Effects of exchange rate changes on the opening
balance of cash and cash equivalents

(27)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
financial year

17

The above Statement of Cash Flow s should be read in conjunction
w ith the accompanying notes.
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(2,301)
130,542
-

______

______

172,707
______

128,241
______

Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this Financial Report are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.
(a)

Basis of presentation
The entity is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The registered office of the entity is Tower 1, Level
33, 100 Barangaroo Avenue, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia. The entity is a public company limited by
shares. The entity is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing financial statements. This Financial
Report includes the financial results and position of the entity’s New Zealand branch.
This Financial Report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board
(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. This Financial Report complies with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB).
This Financial Report is prepared in accordance with the fair value basis of accounting with certain
exceptions as described in the accounting policies below.
The preparation of this Financial Report in conformity with AASBs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
entity’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Financial Report have been disclosed in Note 2.
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to achieve consistency in disclosure with
current financial period amounts and other disclosures.
This Financial Report is presented in Australian Dollars, which is the entity’s functional currency. The entity
is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument
2016/191 and in accordance with that Instrument, amounts in the financial report have been rounded off to
the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.
This Financial Report is prepared on a liquidity basis as this provides more reliable and relevant
information.
This Financial Report was authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022. The Directors
have the power to amend and reissue this Financial Report.

(b)

Principles for life insurance business
The life insurance operations of the entity are conducted within separate statutory funds as required by the
Life Insurance Act 1995 (Life Act) and are reported in aggregate with the shareholder’s fund in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity
and Statement of Cash Flows. The life insurance operations of the entity comprise of the insurance and
reinsurance of individual and group death, total and permanent disability, trauma and income protection
business in Australia and New Zealand.
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Life insurance contracts involve the acceptance of significant insurance risk. Insurance risk is defined as
significant if and only if, an insured event could cause an insurer to pay significant additional benefits in
any scenario, excluding scenarios that lack commercial substance (i.e. have no discernible effect on the
economics of the transaction). Insurance contracts include those where the insured benefit is payable on
the occurrence of a specified event such as death, injury or disability caused by accident or illness. The
insured benefit is not linked to the market value of the investments held by the entity, and the financial risks
are substantially borne by the entity.
The life insurance operations consist of non-investment linked business only. All business written by the
entity is non-participating and all profits and losses from non-participating business are allocated to the
shareholder.
Monies held in the statutory funds are subject to the distribution and transfer restrictions and other
requirements of the Life Insurance Act 1995 and the Insurance (Prudential Supervision) Act 2010.
(c)

Premiums and claims
Premiums and claims have been classified as revenue and expense respectively as the entity only issues
life insurance contract risk products. Premium is recognised as revenue on an accruals basis. Claims are
recognised when the liability to the policy owner under the policy owner contract has been established or
upon notification of the insured event depending on the type of claim.

(d)

Liabilities
(i)

Life Insurance contract liabilities
Life insurance contract liabilities are measured at net present values of estimated future cash
flows or, where the result would not be materially different, as the accumulated benefits available
to policyholders. Applicable reinsurance recoveries are brought to account on the same basis as
life insurance contract liabilities. Changes in life insurance contract liabilities are recognised in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the financial year in which they occur. Profit margins
are released over each reporting period in line with the services that have been provided. The
balance of the planned profit margins is deferred by including them in the value of the life
insurance contract liabilities. Further details of the actuarial assumptions used in these
calculations are set out in Note 3.

(ii)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are measured at book value, which is the best estimate of fair value.
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and settled on normal commercial terms.

(iii)

Subordinated loans
Subordinated loans are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs directly
attributable to the transaction and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds and the redemption amount is recognised through profit or loss over the
period of the subordinated loans using the effective interest method. Fair value of subordinated
loans is disclosed in the Fair value hierarchy Note 18.
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(e)

Assets backing life insurance contract liabilities
The entity has determined that all assets held within its statutory funds are assets backing life
insurance contract liabilities. The measurement of these liabilities incorporates current information and
measuring the financial assets backing these life insurance contract liabilities at fair value eliminates or
significantly reduces a potential measurement inconsistency which would arise if the financial assets were
classified as available for sale or measured at amortised cost. In addition, the use of fair value with
changes in fair value taken to profit and loss is consistent with key elements of the entity’s risk
management framework. Consequently all financial assets within the statutory funds are measured at fair
value (excluding trade and other receivables) as at the reporting date.
Financial assets
(i)

Recognition and Derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(ii)

Valuation
Upon initial recognition, financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss. Gains
and losses on subsequent measurement to fair value or on sale are recognised through profit or
loss. Fair value is determined as follows:

(iii)



Cash assets are carried at face value of the amounts deposited. The carrying amounts of
cash assets approximate their fair value. For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows,
cash includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and investments in money
market investments.



The fair value of listed fixed interest securities is taken as the bid price of the instruments.



Trade and other receivables are carried at amortised cost, which is the best estimate of fair
value, as they are settled within short period from the reporting date.

Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset is calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
The financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar risk characteristics.
Impairment losses are recognised through profit or loss.

(iv)

Interest Income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.

(f)

Shareholders fund assets
Financial assets which do not back life insurance liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or
loss. Plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and depreciated on either a straight line or
diminishing value basis over their estimated useful lives. The depreciation is charged to the profit or loss.
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Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually. When changes are made, adjustments are
reflected prospectively in current and future periods only.
(g)

Deferred acquisition costs
Acquisition costs are capitalised when they relate to the fixed and variable costs incurred to acquire new
business during the financial year. General growth and development costs incurred are excluded from
capitalisation. The actual acquisition costs incurred are recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
The Appointed Actuary, in determining the life insurance contract liabilities, takes account of the deferral of
policy acquisition costs and assesses the value and future recovery of these costs. These deferred
amounts are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a reduction in “life insurance contract
liabilities” and are amortised through the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period that they
are deemed to be recoverable. The impact of this deferral is reflected in “change in life insurance contract
liabilities” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The acquisition costs deferred are determined as the actual costs incurred subject to an overall limit that
the value of future profits at inception cannot be negative. Acquisition losses are recognised at inception
to the extent the latter situation arises.

(h)

Contracts without substantial insurance risk transfer
The entity has contracts of insurance that do not involve the transfer of substantial insurance risk. These
contracts are dealt with in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and any
premium received or claims paid in relation to these contracts are not reported as insurance revenue.

(i)

Outwards reinsurance expense
Premium ceded to reinsurers in exchange for reinsurance protection is expensed in profit or loss from the
attachment date in accordance with the reinsurance contracts’ expected pattern of incidence of risk.

(j)

Income Tax
The income tax expense or credit for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the entity and its branch operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial Report. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income in which case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
(k)

Recoverability of deferred tax assets
The entity assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assets at each reporting date. In making this
assessment, the entity considers in particular the future business plans, history of generating taxable
profits, whether the unused tax losses resulted from identifiable causes which are unlikely to recur and if
any tax planning opportunities exist in the year in which the taxable losses can be utilised.

(l)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand and deposits at call which are readily
convertible to cash on hand and which are used for operational cash requirements. Amounts in cash and
cash equivalents are the same as those included in the statement of cash flows.
The reconciliation of profit or loss after income tax to cash flows from operating activities is included in
Note 17.

(m)

Trade and other receivables
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less
any impairment. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the entity
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivable. Any increase or
decrease in the provision for impairment is recognised in profit or loss within underwriting expenses.

(n)

Intangibles
This is the cost of acquired software which is capitalised and amortised over periods of up to 5 years,
reflecting the period during which the entity is expected to benefit from the use of the software.

(o)

Translation of foreign operations
The Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position of the New Zealand branch
that has New Zealand dollars as the functional currency different from the entity’s presentation currency of
Australian dollars are translated into Australian dollars as follows:


Income, expenses and other current period movements in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
are translated at the exchange rate at the beginning of each month; and



Statement of Financial Position items are translated at the closing balance date rates of exchange.

In the Financial Report, exchange differences arising from the translation of the foreign operations are
taken to equity and recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold in whole
or part and retained profits are repatriated, exchange differences on translation from the New Zealand
branch’s functional currency to the entity’s functional currency of Australian dollars are reclassified out of
other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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(p)

Basis of expense apportionments
Apportionments under Part 6, Division 2 of the Life Insurance Act 1995 have been made as set out below.
Expenses are apportioned between statutory funds as follows:


Expenses directly identifiable to a particular fund are apportioned to that fund;



All expenses which are staff related are allocated in proportion to the estimated time involved in each
fund;



Other expenses are allocated in proportion to appropriate cost drivers.

All expenses, excluding investment management fees which are directly identifiable, have been
apportioned between policy acquisition and policy maintenance having regard to the objective when
incurred. Expenses identifiable as policy acquisition, such as initial commission, have been allocated in
accordance with accounts received from cedants. All other expenses have been apportioned between
policy acquisition and policy maintenance according to appropriate cost drivers and an analysis of the time
spent by each employee.
All expenses relate to non-participating business as the entity only writes this category of business.
(q)

Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for the use by the entity.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreement does not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:


Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable



Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date; and



Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the entity exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
The lease payments are discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
To determinate the incremental borrowing rate, the entity:


Uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the entity, if there is no recent third party financing; and



Makes adjustments specific to the lease (such as term).
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Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
 The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
 Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
 Any initial direct costs; and
 Restoration costs.
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis. Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Shortterm leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment
and small items of office furniture.
(r)

Derivatives
Derivatives may be used as a tool to hedge the entity’s economic exposures and are not used as
speculative investments. However, where derivatives do not meet the hedge accounting criteria, they are
classified as ‘held for trading’ for accounting purposes and are accounted for at fair value through profit or
loss. They are presented as current assets or liabilities to the extent they are expected to be settled within
12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value, determined as the cost of acquisition excluding transaction
costs, and remeasured to fair value at each reporting date.

(s)

New standards and amendments not yet adopted
Management has performed a review of the Australian Accounting Standards detailed below which are not
mandatory for the entity until the operative dates however early adoption is permitted.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments
The entity’s investments are designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition and are
subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The entity is deferring the adoption of AASB
9 Financial Instruments (AASB 9) to align with the implementation of AASB 17 Insurance Contracts,
which is permissible under the standard.
Policy choice
As per the entity’s initial assessment, the investments meet the solely payments of principal and interest
(SPPI) test which requires that the contractual terms of the financial asset should give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount on specified dates in accordance
with AASB 9. The entity invests in investment grade financial instruments to earn interest and the
investment portfolios are structured to match the duration of liabilities while maintaining liquidity for
business cash flows. In accordance with AASB 9, this approach to managing investments will enable the
entity to retrospectively classify investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
upon adoption of the standard with no material impact to equity.
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Expected credit losses model
AASB 9 sets out an expected loss model for recognising impairment losses unlike under the current AASB
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement incurred loss model. Therefore, expected losses
are anticipated before they arise and must be recognised as an expense in other comprehensive income
and shall not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset. Management assesses that the entity’s
investments are investment grade and do not impair subsequent to initial recognition in which case
expected credit losses within 12 months from the reporting date are not expected to materially impact
equity.
AASB 17 Insurance Contracts
AASB 17, a new accounting standard for insurance contracts is applicable from 1 January 2023.
Level of aggregation
To recognise and measure insurance contracts, portfolios of insurance contracts are identified and divided
into groups of insurance contracts, using accounting and actuarial systems, issued no more than one year
apart. At a minimum, a portfolio is divided into:
a) a group of contracts that are onerous at initial recognition, if any;
b) a group of contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous
subsequently, if any; and
c) a group of remaining contracts in the portfolio, if any.
Measurement model
AASB 17 requires a current measurement model where estimates are re-measured each reporting period.
The liability for remaining coverage (which represents insurance coverage to be provided after the balance
date) under the general model is measured as the sum of:



the present value of expected future cash flows and an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial
risk (collectively referred to as the ‘fulfilment cash flows’); and
a Contractual Service Margin (“CSM”) representing the unearned profit of the contract which is
recognised based on a pattern of coverage units as revenue in profit or loss over the coverage
period.

The liability for incurred claims for insured events is measured on basis of fulfilment cash flows.
The entity expects to apply risk free interest rates adjusted to reflect the liquidity characteristics of the
insurance contracts to determine discount rates. Risk adjustment for non-financial risks is determined for
uncertainty about amount and timing of cash flows in the measurement of insurance contract liabilities.
Transition Approaches
Upon transition to AASB 17, the entity will apply the transition approaches to insurance contracts
according to the availability of completeness of historical data; data granularity not just at a portfolio level
(i.e. for policies facing similar risks that are managed together) but specifically for groups of contracts
issued within the same years and in the same group of profitability; and availability of actuarial models and
systems.
Policy choice
The standard allows the option of recognising the effect of changes in discount rates on IFRS 17 liabilities
either in the statement of profit or loss or directly in other comprehensive income (OCI). The entity plans to
adopt the OCI option to match changes in fair value of investments at FVOCI under AASB 9 to reduce
volatility in reported profit or loss.
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Presentation and disclosures
Management expects significant presentation and disclosure changes with the introduction of new
insurance line items in the financial statements due to increased disclosure requirements. Amounts
presented into the statement of comprehensive income are disaggregated into an insurance service result
and insurance finance income or expenses.
Implementation project
The Hannover Re Group of companies and a local project team is jointly conducting the implementation of
transition methodologies using new financial reporting systems and data migration to new AASB 17
ledgers. Given the broad scope of the standard and the complexity involved in valuation of the transition to
AASB 17, the impact on the entity’s equity cannot be reasonably estimated at the date of this report.
Market developments are monitored in order to assess the impact of evolving interpretations and other
changes.
2. Critical accounting judgments and estimates
The entity makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at year end.
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The areas
where critical accounting estimates are applied are noted below.
(a)

Life insurance contract liabilities
Life insurance contract liabilities are computed using actuarial and mathematical methods, which are
expected to give approximately the same results as if an individual liability was calculated for each contract.
The computations are made by suitably qualified personnel on the basis of recognised actuarial methods,
with due regard to relevant actuarial principles. The methodology takes into account the risks and
uncertainties of the particular classes of life insurance business. Deferred policy acquisition costs are
connected with the measurement basis of life insurance contract liabilities and are equally sensitive to the
factors that are considered in the liability measurement.
The key factors that affect the estimation of these liabilities and related assets are:
(i)

mortality and morbidity experience on life insurance products;

(ii)

the cost of providing benefits and administering these insurance contracts; and

(iii)

discontinuance experience, which affects the entity’s ability to recover the cost of acquiring new
business over the lives of the contracts.

In addition, factors such as regulation, competition, interest rates, taxes, securities market conditions and
general economic conditions affect the level of these liabilities. In some contracts, the entity shares
experience on mortality, morbidity and persistency with its customers and this can offset the impact of these
factors on profitability from those products. Details of specific actuarial policies and methods are set out in
Note 3. Details of gross life insurance contract liabilities are set out in Note 8.
During the current year, the COVID-19 impacts were assessed by the Actuaries and an appropriate claim
reserve was recorded in the life insurance contract liabilities.
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(b)

Reinsurers’ share of life insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurers’ share of life insurance contract liabilities is also computed using the methods in (a) above. In
addition, the recoverability of these assets is assessed on a periodic basis to ensure that the balance is
reflective of the amounts that will ultimately be received, taking into consideration factors such as
counterparty and credit risk. Impairment is recognised where there is objective evidence that the entity may
not receive amounts due to it and these amounts can be reliably measured. Details of the reinsurers’ share
of life insurance contract liabilities are set out in Note 8.

(c)

Life insurance contract premium revenue
Life insurance contract premium revenue includes estimates for renewal premiums that are based on
historical information such as the active status of the insurance contract, the sum assured and other relevant
information. Estimates are required as the transfer of the information to the entity is subject to practical
timelines and the amount of premium is dependent on the underlying insurance contracts. Subsequent
premium receipts may be less than or greater than the estimates recorded at the year-end date. The
estimation process is periodically reviewed using the latest information available to ensure that it provides a
reasonable basis.

d)

Receivables and payables for life insurance contracts
The entity has a process for allocating the quarterly technical estimates to life insurance contracts. The
process allocates, at a granular level, the estimates to the receivables and payables of life insurance
contracts after taking account of the actual transactions.

e)

Recoverability of deferred tax assets
The entity assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assets at each reporting date. In making this
assessment, the entity considers in particular the future business plans, history of generating taxable profits,
whether the unused tax losses resulted from identifiable causes which are unlikely to recur and if any tax
planning opportunities exist in the year in which the taxable losses can be utilised.

3. Actuarial assumptions and methods
The effective date of the actuarial report on life insurance contract liabilities and solvency reserves is 31 December
2021. The actuarial report dated 3 March 2021 was prepared by Appointed Actuary, Mr Jun Song BCom, FIAA,
FNZSA. The actuarial report indicates that Mr Song is satisfied as to the accuracy of the data upon which life
insurance contract liabilities have been determined.
The life insurance contract liabilities for life insurance contracts are valued in accordance with AASB 1038 “Life
Insurance Contracts”, APRA Prudential Standard LPS 340 “Valuation of Policy Liabilities”, and the relevant actuarial
standards and guidance.
The accounting standard requires that the life insurance contract liabilities equal the amount which together with
future expected premium and investment earnings will:
(i)

provide for the systematic release of planned margins as services are provided to policyholders and
premium is received; and

(ii)

meet the expected payment of future benefits and expenses.

The profit carrier used for the major product groups in order to achieve the systematic release of planned margins
was as follows:
Major Product Groups
Individual and group death and disability insurance

Profit Carrier
Claims
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The life insurance contract liabilities have been calculated using the methods set out below:
(i)

Individual risk business
Where individual policy data was available, future premium liabilities were calculated by projecting cash
flows on each policy. Otherwise, other liabilities were calculated using accumulation methods.

(ii)

Claims in course of payment
Claims in course of payment were calculated by projecting cash flows for each individual claim.

(iii)

Other business
Liabilities for all other business were determined using accumulation methods, including allowances for
recoverable deferred acquisition expenses.

(a)

Disclosure of assumptions
The assumptions used to value life insurance contract liabilities are best estimates of expected future
experience determined in accordance with AASB 1038 and APRA Prudential Standard LPS 340. The key
assumptions are as follows:
(i)

Discount rates
The discount rates assumed are risk free rates based on current observable objective rates that relate
to the nature, structure and term of the future obligations. Discount rates assumed are:

(ii)

Australian business

2021: 0.10% to 2.15% p.a.
2020: 0.00% to 1.43% p.a.

Overseas business

2021: 0.75% to 2.73% p.a.
2020: 0.16% to 0.88% p.a.

Inflation rates
Inflation rates are primarily relevant to the determination of the outstanding life insurance contract
liabilities. The assumptions have been based on current inflation rates and the outlook for inflation
over the term of the liabilities. The assumed inflation rates are:

(iii)

Australian business

2021: 2.50% p.a.
2020: 1.75% p.a

Overseas business

2021: 1.75% p.a.
2020: 1.25% p.a.

Future expenses
Future maintenance expenses are assumed to be a set percentage of future premium income and
claim payments. Future investment expenses have been assumed to be at the same percentage of
assets under management as currently applies.

(iv)

Rates of taxation
Policy liabilities have been determined on a gross of taxation basis. The rates of taxation that apply to
the entity are shown in Note 16.

(v)

Mortality and morbidity
Assumed claim rates were based on various published tables, primarily those most recently published
by the Institute of Actuaries of Australia and the Australian Financial Services Council, adjusted in
light of recent industry experience and the entity’s own experience. For disability income claims,
adjustments were made to the tabular claim termination assumptions based on the entity’s own
experience, as follows.
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Claim termination rates as percentage of tabular termination assumptions:

(vi)

Australian business

2021:
2020:

20% to 110% of ADI 2014-2018
45% to 300% of ADI 2007-2011

Overseas business

2021: 100% to 180% of ADI 2014-2018
2020: 75% to 140% of ADI 2007-2011

Rates of discontinuance
Assumed policy discontinuance rates are based on recent actual discontinuance experience.
Assumed rates may vary by sub-grouping within a category and vary according to the length of time
tranches of business have been in force. Future rates of discontinuance for the major categories of
business were assumed to be in the order of 2% - 50% p.a. (2020: 2% - 35% p.a.).

(vii)

Surrender values
Surrender values are based on the surrender values included in the life insurance contract liabilities
as advised by ceding companies. There has been no change in the basis as compared to previous
years.

(b)

Effects of changes in actuarial assumptions from 31 December 2020 to 31 December 2021
Effect on net profit
margins
$’000
Increase/
(decrease)

Effect on net life insurance
contract liabilities
$’000
Increase/
(decrease)

Assumption category
(1,820)
244
(2,886)
-

Discount rates
Future inflation rates
Mortality and morbidity
Claim expense margins

_________

(4,462)

Total

_________

(c)

(30,221)
7,042
7,687
(3,334)
_________

(18,826)
_________

Processes used to select assumptions
Discount rate
The gross discount rates are derived from gross yields on cash deposits, bank bill swaps and interest rate
swaps.
Expense level
The current level of expense rates is taken as an appropriate expense base.
Tax
Current tax legislation and rates are assumed to continue unaltered.
Mortality and morbidity
An appropriate base table of mortality or morbidity is chosen for the type of product being written. An
investigation into the actual experience of the entity is performed and statistical methods and judgement are
used to adjust the rates reflected in the table to a best estimate of mortality or morbidity. Where data is
sufficient to be statistically credible, the statistics generated by the data are used without reference to an
industry table.
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Discontinuance
An investigation into the actual experience of the entity is performed and statistical methods are used to
determine appropriate discontinuance rates. An allowance is then made for any trends in the data to arrive
at a best estimate of future discontinuance rates.
(d)

Sensitivity analysis
The valuations included in the reported results and the entity’s best estimate of future performance are
calculated using certain assumptions about the variables such as interest rate, mortality, morbidity and
inflation. A movement in any key variable will impact the performance and net assets of the entity.
Variable

Impact of movement in underlying variable

Expense Rates

An increase in the level of expenses over assumed levels will decrease profit and
shareholder’s equity.

Discount Rates

An increase in market interest rates will cause the value of the entity’s financial assets
and interest sensitive liabilities to fall. To the extent that the profiles of these assets and
liabilities are not matched this will lead to a net profit or loss.

Mortality rates

An increase in mortality rates would lead to higher claims cost and therefore reduced
profit and shareholder’s equity.

Morbidity rates

The cost of health-related claims depends on both the incidence of policyholders
becoming ill and the duration for which they remain ill.

Discontinuance

The impact of the discontinuance rate assumption depends on a range of factors
including the surrender value basis (where applicable) and the duration of policies in
force. For example, an increase in discontinuance rates at earlier durations usually has a
negative effect on profit thereby reducing shareholder’s equity.

The table below illustrates how changes in key assumptions would impact the reported profit after tax and
equity of the entity.
Change in
Impact upon net profit after
Variable
tax and equity

Worsening of mortality/morbidity claim incidence rates
Worsening of income claim termination rates 1
Deterioration in unreported claims development 2
Increase in fixed interest bond yields
Increase in inflation rates

10%
10%
10%
1%
1%

2021
$000

2020
$000

16,638
22,443
3,385
(17,564)
298

20,778
28,653
2,099
3,280
291

Note 1 - the above analysis is impacted by the interaction of the entity’s various reinsurance arrangements and the basis of
taxation for each class of business (see Note 16)
Note 2 - This relates to the cost of incurred but not reported claims
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e)

Claims development
Reserves are established to provide for the ultimate payment of non-finalised claims, in some cases up to
many years after occurrence of the event that gave rise to the claim. Settlement of these claims for either
more or less than the amounts provided will lead to losses or profits, respectively. Experience in respect of
long duration claims incurred prior to the reporting year is as follows:
Loss on claims development before reinsurance
2021
2020
$’000
$’000
Long tailed lump sum benefit claims
Long tailed income benefit claims

4.

(41,080)
(25,490)

(36,060)
(3,143)

Risk Management policies and procedures
The financial condition and operating results of the entity are affected by a number of key financial and nonfinancial risks. The entity’s objectives and policies in respect of managing these risks are set out in the following
section.
The Board of Directors is responsible for the entity’s risk management framework and is responsible for the
oversight of its operation by management. This framework, which is documented in a formal risk management
strategy, is established to identify and manage the risks faced by the entity, to set appropriate risk limits and to
ensure risks and controls are monitored. The framework operates within the context of the Board’s appetite for
risk, which is documented in a Risk Appetite Statement.
The entity’s Chief Risk and Compliance Officer co-ordinates with the executive team, the development,
implementation, continuous improvement and monitoring of the Risk Management and Compliance Management
Frameworks.
The risk management framework is reviewed at least annually and amended as required. The entity, through its
training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive risk and
control culture and environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Board Risk Committee, a sub-committee of the Board, is responsible for oversight of the implementation and
operation of the entity’s risk and compliance frameworks.
The Board Audit Committee, a sub-committee of the Board, is responsible for monitoring the entity’s risk
management framework and reporting to the Board. It provides independent assurance to the Board that the risk
management framework is appropriate, consistently implemented and operating effectively.
The Board Audit Committee is assisted in its role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes regular reviews and
tests of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Committee.
(i)

Capital risk
The Board’s ICAAP Summary Statement outlines the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
(ICAAP) of the entity. The objectives of the ICAAP are to enable the entity to maintain adequate capital and to
meet all regulatory capital requirements on a continuous basis. The ICAAP also sets out certain actions and
procedures for monitoring compliance with its regulatory capital requirements and capital targets.
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(ii) Risks arising from financial instruments
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the entity if a cedant, outwards reinsurer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual financial obligations, and arises principally from the entity’s receivables
from customers, outwards reinsurance receivables and issuers of investment securities.
a)

Trade and other receivables

The entity’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the market in which the entity operates. The larger clients
of the entity, by premium revenue, are financial entities regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation
Authority. Given this client base, management does not expect a material client to default on trade
receivables. The entity has not experienced credit losses on trade receivables.
The entity aims to limit its exposure to credit risk by only reinsuring with financial entities with strong credit
ratings. All of the entity’s outwards reinsurance exposures are to reinsurers that at the valuation date had a
credit rating of at least AA- (Standard & Poor’s). Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect
a reinsurer to fail to meet its obligations.
b)

Investments

The entity’s Investment Guidelines, approved by the Board, contain credit rating based limits on exposure to
securities and issuers. Compliance with the Investment Policy is monitored daily by the entity’s investment
managers and reported regularly to the Investment Strategy Committee. The Committee is responsible for
setting strategy within the framework of the Investment Guidelines and reporting to the Board on strategy,
performance and compliance.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the entity’s reputation.
The entity maintains a float of cash to meet obligations. The entity also has access to more liquid national
government or semi government bonds within the entity’s fixed interest portfolio, the sale proceeds of which
would be available to the entity.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in components of market prices, such as interest rates, credit spreads and
currency risk, will affect the entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimising the return on risk.
a)

Interest risk

The entity has a portfolio of fixed interest security assets and a portfolio of life insurance contract liabilities.
Both of these portfolios are subject to change in carrying value due to changes in interest rates. The entity
manages these interest rate risks by approximately matching the duration of the fixed interest portfolio and the
insurance contract liability portfolio.
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b)

Credit spread risk

The movements in credit spreads can impact the value of the investments and therefore impact reported profit
or loss. This risk is managed by investing in high quality, liquid fixed interest debt instruments.
c)

Currency risk

The entity has a New Zealand branch whose assets and liabilities are denominated in New Zealand dollars.
On translation of the New Zealand branch into the reporting currency (Australian dollars) of the entity,
exchange rate variations on Statement of Financial Position items are recognised in a foreign currency
translation reserve within equity. The entity is exposed to currency risk on the translation of Statement of
Comprehensive Income items and the settlement of monetary balances between the Australian and New
Zealand businesses.
Inflation risk
An inflation risk exists as the insurance contract liabilities could develop differently than assumed at the time
when the reserve was constituted due to inflation. In order to partially hedge inflation risks the entity holds
inflation-linked bonds in its portfolio.
(iii)

Insurance risks
Insurance risk is the risk of fluctuations in the timing, frequency and severity of insured events and claims
settlements, relative to expectations.
Controls over insurance risk include the use of underwriting procedures, established processes over setting of
premium rates and policy charges and regular monitoring of reinsurance arrangements. Controls are also
maintained over claims management practices to ensure the timely payment of insurance claims in
accordance with policy obligations.
Methods to limit or transfer insurance risk exposures
(i)

Outwards reinsurance

The entity’s outwards reinsurance agreements are designed to provide some protection against volatility of
profit from claims fluctuations and deteriorating experience and to provide financial support by way of capital
relief. Outwards reinsurance treaties are analysed to assess the impact on the entity’s exposure to risk.
(ii)

Underwriting procedures

The entity has formal Underwriting Guidelines which document the entity’s underwriting framework including
the types of business that the entity may write, underwriting authorities and limits. The entity also has
documented underwriting procedures for underwriting decisions. Such procedures include limits to delegated
authorities and signing powers. The underwriting process is regularly reviewed by the entity’s internal
auditors to assess the adequacy and effectiveness of controls over the underwriting process. Where
underwriting authority is delegated to a cedant, the entity has a program for auditing the cedant’s underwriting
processes.
(iii) Claims Management
Strict claims management procedures and controls are in place to ensure the accurate and timely payment of
claims in accordance with policy conditions. The entity has in place a program to assist cedants manage their
claim portfolios.
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(iv) Pricing
The entity adopts standard pricing processes and controls. In specified circumstances, particularly for large or
non-standard risks, advice is provided by the Appointed Actuary specific to that quotation and is considered
by the entity.
(v) Experience analysis
Experience studies are performed at a client and product level to determine the adequacy of pricing
assumptions. The results are used to determine prospective changes in pricing.
(vi) Management reporting
The entity reports quarterly financial and operational results including, mortality and morbidity claim
experience, policy lapsations, and exposure for portfolios of contracts (gross and net of reinsurance). This
information includes the entity’s gross and net results which are compared against the entity’s business plan.
(vii) Concentration of insurance risk
The demographics within the population of policyholders is spread with the expectation that the risk
concentration is minimal.
(iv)

Sensitivity to insurance risks
The nature of the terms of the life insurance contracts written is such that certain external variables can be
identified on which related cash flows for claim payments depend. The table below provides an overview of
the key variables upon which the amount of related cash flows are dependent.

(v)

Type of contract

Detail of contract
workings

Non-participating life
insurance contracts with
fixed terms (Term Life
and Disability)

Benefits paid on death
or ill health that are fixed
and not at the discretion
of the issuer

Nature of
compensation for
claims
Benefits, defined by the
insurance contract, are
determined by the
contract and are not
directly affected by the
performance of
underlying assets or the
performance of the
contracts as a whole

Key variables that
affect the timing and
uncertainty of future
cash flows
Mortality
Morbidity
Interest rates
Inflation rates
Lapse rates
Expenses

Tax risk management and related policies
The entity’s Board does not sanction or support any activities which seek to aggressively structure its tax
affairs. The entity’s tax outcomes are determined by the nature of its business and it pays taxes accordingly.
The entity has a framework to ensure that all tax requirements are met.
The entity’s tax strategy is focused on integrity in compliance and reporting. The strategy is implemented
through the entity’s Tax Risk Management Policy. This policy is approved by the Board and supported by
business processes.
In conducting the entity’s activities (both in Australia and New Zealand), the entity:
- does not shift to and/or accumulate profits in low or zero tax jurisdictions;
- does not use the secrecy rules of jurisdictions to hide assets or income; and
- pays tax where the underlying economic activity occurs.
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The entity is subject to transfer pricing obligations under Australia’s Country-by-Country (CbC) regime and
lodges relevant reports and statements with the Australian Taxation Office within 12 months after the end of
income tax year. In compliance with both Australian filing requirements and the OECD BEPS Action Plan,
the CbC Report contains details about the entity’s international related party dealings, revenue, profits and
taxes paid by jurisdiction. Under intergovernmental exchange of information agreements, this CbC Report is
available to overseas tax authorities.
5.

Disclosure on asset restrictions
Investments held in the statutory funds can only be used within the restrictions imposed under the Life Insurance
Act 1995. The main restrictions are that the assets in a fund can only be used to meet the liabilities and expenses
of that fund, to acquire investments to further the business of the fund or as distributions when Prudential Capital
Requirements are met. Shareholders can only receive a distribution when the Prudential Capital Requirements
are met.

6.

Capital requirements
The capital adequacy requirements are the amounts required under APRA prudential standards to provide
protection against the impact of adverse experience.
The Capital Base and Prescribed Capital Amount at 31 December 2021 for each fund have been determined in
accordance with LPS 110 as follows:
Australian
Reinsurance
Statutory
Fund

Australian
Statutory
Fund

Overseas
Statutory
Fund

Shareholder
Fund

Total

2021
$’000

2021
$’000

2021
$’000

2021
$’000

2021
$’000

Capital Base
Net assets (1)

275,797
(79,341)

197,814
(51,399)

23,830
4,833

22,000

25,000

-

-

(206)

218,456

171,208

28,662

Insurance risk charge

56,862

25,794

3,934

-

86,590

Asset risk charge

22,770

39,888

867

206

63,731

-

-

-

-

-

51,260

17,378

2,494

-

71,131

(14,289)

(14,030)

(607)

-

(28,926)

28,004

22,137

1,631

88

51,860

144,605

91,166

8,320

294

244,385

1.51

1.88

3.45

147.34

1.89

Regulatory adjustments to net assets
Tier 2 capital
Intangible Assets
Total Capital Base

50,965
(1,663)
-

548,406
(127,571)
47,000

(5,991)

(6,197)

43,311

461,638

Prescribed Capital Amount (PCA)

Asset concentration risk charge
Operational risk charge
Less aggregation benefit
Combined stress scenario adjustment
Total PCA
Capital adequacy multiple
(Capital Base/PCA)
(1)

No Additional Tier 1 Capital was held and hence net assets are comprised solely of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital.

The Capital Base of the Shareholder Fund was subsequently reduced by the declaration of a dividend of $5m on 3
March 2022.
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The Capital Base and Prescribed Capital Amount at 31 December 2020 for each fund have been determined in
accordance with LPS 110 as follows:
Australian
Statutory
Fund

Australian
Reinsurance
Statutory
Fund

2020
$’000

2020
$’000

Overseas
Statutory
Fund

2020
$’000

Shareholder
Fund

Total

2020
$’000

2020
$’000

30,984
(1,655)

541,544
(145,386)

Capital Base
Net assets (1)
Regulatory adjustments to net assets

281,043
(78,073)

207,325
(71,796)

-

Tier 2 capital

22,192
6,138

-

-

(206)

Intangible Assets

(8,503)

(8,709)

202,970

135,323

28,333

Insurance risk charge

60,865

29,278

4,260

-

94,404

Asset risk charge

33,634

41,833

3,270

44

78,781

-

-

-

-

-

55,980

17,370

2,434

-

75,783

(19,302)

(15,459)

(1,664)

-

(36,425)

32,228

23,851

2,281

19

58,379

163,405

96,873

10,581

63

270,922

1.24

1.40

2.68

330.57

1.43

Total Capital Base

20,826

387,449

Prescribed Capital Amount (PCA)

Asset concentration risk charge
Operational risk charge
Less aggregation benefit
Combined stress scenario adjustment
Total PCA
Capital adequacy multiple
(Capital Base/PCA)

(1)

No Additional Tier 1 Capital was held and hence net assets are comprised solely of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital.
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7.

Profit or loss information

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

2,117
250
(34)
64

2,374
250
(7)
227

(a) Other income
Services to related parties
Claims handling fee for service
Exchange losses
Net other income

_______

2,397

________

(b)

2,844

________

Other expenses

Policy acquisition costs – life insurance contracts
- Net commission
- Other acquisition costs

6,586
7,918

________

Total policy acquisition costs

14,504

Policy maintenance costs – life insurance contracts
- Net commission
- Other expenses

________

(2,801)

________

297,055
48,602

281,602
54,033

345,657

________

3,691

Investment management expenses

(6,087)
3,286

________

________

Total policy maintenance costs

(c)

_______

________

________

335,635

________

3,210

________

363,852

336,044

_________

_________

Components of profit

Planned margin of revenues over expenses released
Difference between actual and assumed experience
Change in valuation methods and assumptions
Investment earnings on assets in excess of life insurance
liabilities
Profit for the year

7,495
(27,918)
14,973

10,343
2,347
(11,972)

11,355

11,308

__________

___________

5,904

________

12,026

_________

All of the profit is attributable to shareholder interests as the entity only writes business that is non-participating.
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(d)

Defined contribution plans
The entity contributes as a participating employer on a defined contribution basis to the Mercer
Superannuation Trust (the default fund) and, where applicable, funds chosen by individual employees. In
addition, the entity contributes the minimum pursuant to the Superannuation Guarantee Charge on behalf of
Non-Executive Directors. The amount recognised as expense for all defined contribution plans was
$2,621,119 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: $2,495,482).

8.

Life insurance contract liabilities
(a)

Reconciliation of movement in life insurance contract liabilities
2021
$’000

Life insurance contract liabilities
Gross life insurance contract liabilities at 1 January
Exchange rate adjustment on translation of New Zealand branch
Change in life insurance contract liabilities reflected in profit or loss

2,002,620
127
234,046
_____________

Gross life insurance contract liabilities at 31 December
Reinsurers’ share of life insurance contract liabilities
Retroceded life insurance contract liabilities at 1 January
Exchange rate adjustment on translation of New Zealand Branch
Change in reinsurers’ share of life insurance contract
liabilities reflected in profit or loss
Reinsurers’ share of life insurance contract liabilities at
31 December

2020
$’000
1,241,234
(1,359)
762,745
_____________

2,236,793

2,002,620

_____________

_____________

(1,006,478)
(54)

(1,149,190)
450

164,063

142,262

____________

_____________

(842,469)

(1,006,478)

____________

_____________

Net life insurance contract liabilities at 31 December

3,079,262
__________

3,009,098
__________

Expected to be settled within 12 months
Expected to be settled in more than 12 months

1,306,748
1,772,514

1,257,041
1,752,057

____________

____________

3,079,262
__________

3,009,098
__________
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(b)

Components of net life insurance contract liabilities
2021
$’000

Best estimate liability
- Value of future policy benefits
- Value of future expenses
- Value of un-recouped acquisition expense

3,022,463
68,449
(114,261)
____________

____________

Total best estimate liability for life insurance contracts

2,976,651

2,908,352

Value of future shareholder profit margins

9.

2020
$’000
2,983,667
74,121
(149,436)

102,611

100,746

____________

____________

3,079,262
__________

3,009,098
__________

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

114,056
18,440
1,242

107,392
17,546
3,455

Trade and other receivables

Outstanding premium
Investment income accrued and receivable
Other receivables

__________

__________

133,738
________

128,393
________

All trade and other receivables are current assets. The entity does not have any concerns regarding the collectability
of the outstanding premium.
The entity’s exposure to credit and currency risks related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 19.
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10.

Property, plant and equipment
2021
$’000

Fixtures, Fittings & Equipment
Cost
Balance at 1 January
Acquisitions
Disposals
Balance at 31 December

2020
$’000

6,986
233
(127)

6,547
524
(85)

_______

_______

7,092

6,986

______

______

2,387
579
(127)

1,936
536
(85)

_______

_______

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 1 January
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Balance at 31 December

2,839

______

Carrying Amounts
At 1 January
At 31 December

4,599

4,611

_______

_______

4,253

Straight line depreciation rate

2,387

______

4,599

______

______

1-40%

1-40%

The property, plant and equipment comprise of non-current fixed assets at reporting date.

11.

Trade and other payables
2021
$’000
Payables under life insurance contracts
Amounts due to related parties
Derivative
Other payables

2020
$’000

13,613
55,706
14
7,001

11,715
62,222
2,540

_________

_________

76,334
_______

_______

76,477

All trade and other payables are current liabilities.
The entity’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 19.
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12.

Intangible assets

System Development Costs
Cost
Balance at 1 January
Acquisitions
Write-offs
Balance at 31 December

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

14,881
2,085
(3,725)

13,245
3,986
(2,350)

___________

___________

13,241

_______

14,881

_______

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 January
Amortisation
Write-offs
Balance at 31 December

6,172
2,872
(2,000)

6,115
2,407
(2,350)

__________

__________

7,044

______

Carrying Amounts
At 1 January
At 31 December

6,172

______

8,709

7,130

__________

__________

6,197

8,709

______

______

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current liability
Annual leave liability

2,478

1,881

Non-Current liability
Long service leave liability
Other long term employee benefit liabilities
Net defined benefit liability (Note 21(b))

2,374
1,334
664

2,429
1,430
2,258

__________

__________

The intangible assets are all non-current assets at reporting date.

13.

Employee Benefits

6,850

______
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14.

Capital and reserves
(a)

Contributed equity
Ordinary Shares
2021
2020
$’000
$’000
On issue at 1 January
Issued for cash

150,000
__________

__________

On issue at 31 December

150,000

150,000

________

________

148,200,002

148,200,002

Number of ordinary shares issued and fully paid

105,000
45,000

The ordinary shares of the entity were issued by the Parent Company and have no par value. The holders of
ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote
per share at meetings of the entity. All shares rank equally with regard to the entity’s residual assets.
(b)

Reserves
The movement below in reserves represents changes to the translation reserve, defined benefit reserve
and other reserve.
2021
2020
$’000
$’000
Balance as at 1 January
Foreign currency translation
Net defined benefit liability
Balance as at 31 December
(i)

56,937
35
923

56,846
72
19

__________

__________

57,895

56,937

________

________

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of the New Zealand branch to the presentation currency of the entity i.e.
Australian dollars.

(ii)

Defined benefit plan reserve
The reserve relates to the portion of the net defined benefit plan asset/liability that does not flow
through profit and loss in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

(iii)

Other reserve
This reserve relates to capital that in addition to contributed equity is not available to be distributed
to the shareholder as retained profits.
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15.

Disaggregated information of life insurance business by fund
2021
Australian
Statutory
Fund

Australian
Reinsurance
Statutory Fund

Overseas
Statutory
Fund

$’000

$’000

$’000

$'000

$'000

Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss

634,309

2,628,995

99,091

31,169

3,393,564

Other assets

129,196

237,717

10,631

19,744

397,288

(821,898)

(15,360)

-

74,825

-

Reinsurers’ share of life
insurance contract liabilities
Life insurance contract
liabilities assumed

(5,211)

Shareholders’
Fund

Total

(842,469)

462,972

1,698,996

Other liabilities

97,507

70,023

(4,294)

Retained profits

102,058

213,800

19,267

5,386

340,511

Premium revenue

579,258

1,159,129

49,847

-

1,788,234

Investment revenue

(24,851)

(39,540)

(2,613)

Claims expense

(286,413)

(666,208)

(27,619)

Other operating expenses

(262,102)

(101,269)

(2,764)

(14)

(366,149)

2,228

(27)

12,627

1,603

(19)

5,904

Operating profit/(loss) before tax

9,948

Operating profit/(loss) after tax

9,566

478
(5,246)

(52)

(13)
-

2,236,793
163,184

(67,017)
(980,240)

2020
Australian
Statutory
Fund

Australian
Reinsurance
Statutory Fund

$’000

$’000

$’000

$'000

$'000

Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss

656,524

2,543,394

97,290

13,266

3,310,474

Other assets

134,011

198,286

10,047

17,717

360,061

Reinsurers’ share of life
insurance contract liabilities

(61,531)

(925,430)

(19,517)

-

(1,006,478)

Life insurance contract
liabilities assumed

460,439

1,473,163

69,018

-

2,002,620

Other liabilities

61,240

62,043

(3,390)

-

119,893

Retained profits

112,492

219,046

17,664

Premium revenue

561,578

1,117,989

41,684

-

1,721,251

30,342

115,903

4,267

98

150,610

Claims expense

(293,714)

(579,081)

(30,962)

Other operating expenses

(255,491)

(77,713)

(4,224)

(27)

(337,455)

(6,730)

(1,782)

(3,255)

73

(11,694)

13,326

(2,266)

51

12,026

Investment revenue

Operating profit/(loss) before tax
Operating profit/(loss) after tax

915

43

Overseas
Statutory
Fund

Shareholders’
Fund

(14,595)

-

Total

334,607

(903,757)
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16.

Income tax
(a)

Income tax expense/(benefit)
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

1,564
-

455
(289)

Current tax expense/(benefit)
Current year
Prior year
Deferred tax expense/(benefit)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
- Current year
- Prior year

5,344
(185)
_________

Total income tax expense/(benefit) disclosed in Statement of
Comprehensive Income

6,723

_______

(22,081)
(1,805)
__________

(23,720)

________

Reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit/(loss)
Net profit/(loss) before tax

12,627

_______

Prima facie income tax expense/(benefit) calculated at 30% (2020: 30%)
on the profit/(loss) from ordinary activities for the year ended 31
December:
Increase in income tax expense due to:
Non-deductible retrocession
Difference in New Zealand tax rate
Other

3,788

2,760
405

(Decrease) in income tax expense due to:
Non-assessable retrocession
Over provision from prior year
Difference in New Zealand tax rate

(185)
(45)

Income tax expense/(benefit) on pre-tax profit

(11,694)

________

(3,508)

65
84
(18,267)
(2,094)
-

__________

__________

6,723
________

________

(23,720)

During 2021 the entity had not made an election under Section 148 of the Income Tax Assessment Act
1936 (ITAA) and accordingly was taxed on the basis of revenues gross of overseas reinsurance on
Accident and Disability business. In New Zealand, business is subject to tax in accordance with the Income
Tax Act 2007 at a rate of 28% (2020: 28%).
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
Relating to movement in defined benefit provision

395

8

__________

__________

395

________
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16.

Income tax (continued)
(b)

Recognised deferred tax (assets) and liabilities
Assets

Employee benefits
Life insurance contract liabilities
Other items
Tax value of loss carry-forward
recognised

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(1,660)
(32,188)
(2,839)

(2,391)
(28,659)
(2,021)

(18,449)
__________

Net tax (assets)
(c)

Liabilities

(55,136)

________

(27,601)
__________

(60,672)

________

Net Tax Asset

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

-

-

-

-

___________

___________

-

________

-

________

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(1,660)
(32,188)
(2,839)

(2,391)
(28,659)
(2,021)

(18,449)
__________

(55,136)

________

(27,601)
___________

(60,672)

________

Movements in temporary differences during the year
Balance
1 Jan 2021
$’000

Employee benefits
Life insurance contract
liabilities
Other items
Tax value of loss carry-forward
recognised

(2,391)
(28,659)
(2,021)
(27,601)
____________

(60,672)

_________

Balance
1 Jan 2020
$’000
Employee benefits
Life insurance contract
liabilities
Other items
Tax value of loss carry-forward
recognised

Exchange
Movement in
Equity
$’000
(18)
-

Recognised
in Income

Recognised
in Equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

336
(3,511)

395
-

(1,660)
(32,188)

(818)

-

(2,839)

-

9,152

-

____________

____________

__________

(18)

Balance
31 Dec 2021

5,159

395

_________

_________

________

Exchange
Movement in
Equity
$’000

Recognised
in Income

Recognised
in Equity

$’000

$’000

(18,449)
____________

(55,136)

_________

Balance
31 Dec 2020
$’000

(2,559)
(24,385)

4

160
(4,278)

8
-

(2,391)
(28,659)

(1,556)

-

(465)

-

(2,021)

(8,298)
____________

(36,798)

_________

____________

4

_________
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(19,886)
____________

(23,886)

_________

__________

8

________

(27,601)
____________

(60,672)

_________
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17.

Reconciliation of profit or loss after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

5,904

12,026

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax
Add/(less) adjusting items:
Net fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets/liabilities

150,599

(71,302)

Add non-cash movements:
Depreciation, amortisation and write-offs
Finance costs
Net unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss

8,292
2,297
(375)
________

6,079
1,411
2,062
________

Net cash outflows from operating activities before change in assets &
liabilities
Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
Decrease/(increase) in tax assets
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Increase in life insurance contract liabilities
(Decrease) in reinsurers’ share of life insurance contract liabilities
Net cash inflows from operating activities

166,717

(49,724)

(5,345)
6,440
(1,305)
234,173
(164,007)
________

187,771
(23,830)
16,035
761,386
(142,712)
________

236,673
________

748,926
________

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank and
investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the financial year as shown
in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
2021
$’000
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash

172,707

_________

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement
The entity’s exposures to credit risk is disclosed in Note 19.
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172,707

_________

2020
$’000
128,241

_________

128,241

_________
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18.

Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses assets and liabilities that are revalued and carried at fair value in the Statement of
Financial Position, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:




Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial instruments.
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the financial
instrument, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).
Level 3: inputs are not based on observable market data.

There were no transfers between the Levels during the current and prior year.
2021
Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

-

3,393,564

-

3,393,564

-

43,300
14

-

43,300
14

Financial assets
Investments
Financial liabilities
Subordinated loans*
Derivative**

-

2020

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets
Investments

-

3,310,474

-

3,310,474

Financial liabilities
Subordinated loans
Derivative

-

-

-

-

*The subordinated loans are priced based on similar instruments ranging A to A- by S&P ratings in the bonds
market using not active, quoted prices.
**This represents an over the counter zero coupon inflation swap with a notional value of $1m carried at fair
value through profit or loss with a maturity date of 15 September 2025.

19.

Financial instrument risks
The entity has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:


credit risk



market risk



liquidity risk

These risks were discussed in Note 4 – Risk Management Processes and Procedures. Further quantitative
disclosures are below.
Management determines concentrations by reference to the inherent risks of the financial assets that are actively
monitored and managed.
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19.

Financial instrument risks (continued)
(a)

Credit risk exposure
At balance date, the entity had exposure to credit risk on the following financial instruments:

Cash
Investment assets – debt securities
Trade and other receivables

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

172,707
3,393,564
133,738
__________

128,241
3,310,474
128,393
__________

3,700,009
__________

3,567,108
__________

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

1,176,377
261,406
225,031
134,121
356,564
162,462
1,077,603
__________

919,485
12,455
337,757
142,312
96,738
459,899
181,631
1,160,197
__________

3,393,564
__________

___________

175,756
3,217,808
__________

192,938
3,117,536
__________

3,393,564

3,310,474

The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss (investment assets - debt securities) at the
balance date was by sector:

Issuing Sector
Government
Semi-Government – Government Guaranteed
Semi-Government
Government Agency
Government Agency – Government Guaranteed
Sovereign supranational
Sovereign supranational – Foreign Government Guaranteed
Corporate

Expected to be realised within 12 months
Expected to be realised in more than 12 months

__________
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19.

Financial instrument risks (continued)
The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss (investment assets - debt securities) at
the balance date was by rating:
Rating of Issuer
AAA
AA
A
BBB

(b)

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

2,327,303
557,067
381,350
127,844
__________

1,974,242
845,414
294,767
196,051
__________

3,393,564
__________

3,310,474
__________

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

3,393,564

3,310,474

Market risk sensitivity
The entity has sensitivity to the following market risks:

(i) Interest rate risk
At balance date the entity held the following interest sensitive
financial instruments:
Investment assets – debt securities
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at balance date would
have increased/(decreased) equity and profit/(loss) by the amounts
shown below.
- plus 100 basis points - (decrease) profit and equity by
- minus 100 basis points - increase profit and equity by

(203,614)
230,762

(209,579)
237,065

(ii) Currency risk
The entity has a New Zealand branch whose financial assets and liabilities are denominated in New
Zealand dollars (NZD). On translation of the financial assets and liabilities into the reporting currency of
the entity (Australian dollars), exchange rate variations are recognised in a foreign currency translation
reserve within equity.
$’000
NZD

$’000
NZD

121,309
95,990

97,417
73,753

At the balance date the entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk was
as follows based on notional amounts:
Total assets denominated in New Zealand dollars
Total liabilities denominated in New Zealand dollars
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19.

Financial instrument risks (continued)
(b)

Market risk sensitivity (continued)
A 10% strengthening in the value of the Australian dollar at the
balance date would (decrease) equity and (decrease) profit by the
amounts shown below.

- Strengthening of the Australian dollar against the NZD will
(decrease) equity by
- Strengthening of the Australian dollar against the NZD will
(decrease)/increase profits by

2021
$’000
AUD

2020
$’000
AUD

(2,360)

(2,082)

(153)

283

A 10% weakening of the Australian dollar against the New Zealand dollar would have had the equal but
opposite effect to the amounts shown above.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income is translated into the currency of the entity at a monthly
exchange rate. The Statement of Financial Position is translated at the exchange rate at balance date
(2021: NZD $1 = AUD $0.942, 2020: NZD $1 = AUD $0.938).
(c)

Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial instruments at the reporting date.
Effective
Interest
rate

Total

0-12 months

1-2 years

2-3 years

3-4 years

4-5 years

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

More than 5
years
$’000

(4,524)
(1,579)
-

(4,705)
(1,579)
(14)

(4,893)
(1,579)
-

(16,347)
(57,202)
-

(4,350)
-

(4,524)
-

(4,705)
-

(21,240)
-

2021
Trade and other payables
Lease liability
Subordinated loans
Derivative

3.36%
-

(76,320)
(39,002)
(65,098)
(14)

(76,320)
(4,183)
(1,579)
-

(4,350)
(1,579)
-

2020
Trade and other payables
Lease liability
Subordinated loans
Derivative

-

(76,477)
(42,570)
-

(76,477)
(3,568)
-
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20.

Leases
AASB 16 lease recognition
This note provides information for leases where the entity is a lessee. In October 2017, the entity entered into a 7
year non-cancellable lease for office space in Tower 1, Level 33, 100 Barangaroo Avenue, Sydney with
commencement date of 1 February 2018 and expiry date of 31 January 2025 and an option to extend for further 5
years subject to a market review process using comparable rents. The lease liability includes the option period.
The costs of the lease arrangement are shared via a cost sharing arrangement with related Australian entities.
(i) Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to lease:
2021
$’000
Right of use assets
Office space

25,192

Lease liability
Current
Non-current

2020
$’000
28,479

_______

_______

2,916
30,084

2,418
33,000

_______

33,000

_______

_______

35,418

_______

(ii) Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to lease:

Depreciation charge of right of use assets
Interest expenses (included in finance costs)
21.

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

3,287
1,376

3,135
1,411

Defined Benefit Plan
(a)

Plan characteristics
The entity makes contributions to a defined benefit plan (the Plan) that provides retirement, death and
invalidity benefits to members based on the member’s salary and years of service. The Plan provides an
indexed pension benefit on retirement. Part or all the pension benefit may be converted to an account
based pension or with the approval of the Plan trustees, the pension benefit may be commuted to a lump
sum.
The Plan is a sub account of the Mercer Superannuation Trust (MST). The entity is the Principal Employer
of the Plan.
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(b)

Defined benefit plan obligations and assets
The cost of the defined benefit obligation is recognised in the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
(OCI). Member service costs and interest on the net defined benefit plan obligation are recognised in profit
or loss. Remeasurements, being actuarial gains and losses, and differences between expected net interest
income and the actual return are recognised in OCI.
The defined benefit obligation of the Plan as at 31 December 2021 was $8,182,000 (2020: $8,574,000). The
assets of the Plan are invested in unit linked products within MST. The assets of the Plan as at 31
December 2021 were $7,518,000 (2020: $6,316,000). The net defined benefit liability at this date was
$664,000 (2020: $2,258,000).

22.

Subordinated loans
On 15 June 2021, Hannover Rück SE issued $47m of subordinated loans with a 12 year maturity to the entity.
Interest is payable quarterly in arrears at a fixed rate of 3.36% per annum.
The loans are redeemable at the option of the entity, subject to written approval of APRA, from 15 June 2026 or at
any time in the event of certain tax and regulatory events.
The loans must be written off or converted into Common Equity Tier 1 Capital if APRA determines the entity to be
non-viable.

23.

Auditor's remuneration

Audit Services:
Auditors of the entity – PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit and review of the financial reports
Other regulatory audit services

Other Services:
Auditors of the entity – PricewaterhouseCoopers
Other consulting (RMF & ICAAP review)
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2021
$

2020
$

323,932
57,150

340,056
38,100

_____________

_____________

381,082
________

378,156
________

-

137,700
________

________
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24.

Directors’ and Executive disclosures (key management personnel)
The following were specified Directors and Executives of Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd for the entire
reporting period, unless otherwise stated.
Non-Executive Independent
Directors

Non-Executive Non-Independent
Directors

Executive Directors

Mr P. R. Gaydon (Chairman)
Ms S. G. Everingham
Mr R. J. Wylie

Mr C. J. Chèvre (Deputy Chairman)
Mr J. J Henchoz

Mr G. Obertopp

Executive Management
G. Obertopp, Actuary (DAV), Managing Director
J. Song, BCom, FIAA, FNZSA - Appointed Actuary
P. Berry – General Manager, Retail Business, BEc, FIAA (appointed 1 July 2021)
S. Carmichael, Chief Risk & Compliance Officer, BA (appointed 19 April 2021)
O. O’Shea, Acting Chief Risk & Compliance Officer (ceased acting 19 April 2021)
The late M. de Villiers, BSc (Hons), MBA, FIAA, General Manager (Business Development) (10 June 2021)
D. Tallack, BEc, CPA, AGIA, General Manager (Finance) & Company Secretary
J. Walters – General Manager, Group Business, FIAA, FSAI (appointed 1 July 2021)
M. Wilson, BA (Hons), MSc, MBA, Chief Operating Officer
In addition to their salaries, the entity contributes to post employment benefit plans for the entity’s Australian
resident Non-Executive Directors and Executive Management.
Transactions with key management personnel
The key management personnel compensations included in Other Expense (see Note 7) are as follows:

Short term employee benefits
Post employment benefits
Other long term benefits

2021
$

2020
$

3,813,725
207,367
763,761

3,137,749
139,122
399,866

____________

____________

4,784,853
__________

3,676,737
__________

Director related transactions
Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the entity since
the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving Directors' interests at year
end.
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25.

Non Director related parties
Related party transactions
The following related party transactions occurred during the financial year.
(i)

Reinsurance arrangements with related parties
The entity has reinsurance arrangements through related parties of the Hannover Re Group of Companies.
During the reporting period the entity restructured these retrocession arrangements to simplify
administration and accommodate Group systems.

(ii)

Investment management services
Ampega Asset Management GmbH (formerly Talanx Asset Management GmbH), a related party of the
Hannover Re Group of Companies provides investment management services to the entity.

(iii)

Other services rendered by/to related parties
Payments are made to Hannover Rück SE for the entity’s share of various project and line costs incurred by
the Hannover Re Group. Further, income is received by entity for various secondment services provided to
Hannover Rück SE and the recovery of shared expenses from Australian branches of Hannover Rück SE
and HDI Global Specialty.

(iv)

Transactions with related parties
The value of transactions during the year with related parties and the aggregate amounts receivable from
and payable to related parties are as follows:
2021
2020
$
$
Transactions during the year
Outwards reinsurance expenses
Reinsurance recoveries
Payments for services
Income from services
Investment management fees
Interest paid on subordinated loans

(1,204,654,915)
1,088,526,457
(4,086,220)
2,117,435
(3,691,281)
(473,760)

Creditors – Current
Amounts due to related party
Interest payable on subordinated loans

55,706,499
355,320

Subordinated loans – Non Current
Amounts due to related party

47,000,000

(1,149,111,545)
1,074,414,169
(4,468,295)
2,374,348
(3,210,543)
62,222,137
-

All transactions with related parties were conducted at arm’s length. All outstanding balances are due and
payable on normal terms of credit.
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Parent entities
The immediate parent entity is Hannover Rück Beteiligung Verwaltungs-GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Hannover Rück SE. The ultimate parent entity is Haftpflichtverband der Deutschen Industrie V.a.G. (HDI). These
parent entities are incorporated in Germany and have their headquarters in Hannover, Germany.
26.

Reconciliation of reported results with Life Act results
In respect of the entity’s life insurance contracts business, there are no differences between the valuation
requirements adopted as per relevant accounting standards in these financial statements and those of the Life
Insurance Act 1995. Consequently the entity’s loss/profit and retained profits reported in these financial statements
are the same under the Life Insurance Act 1995.

27.

Contingencies and commitments
There are no contingencies or commitments from the current or prior periods that require disclosure.

28.

Events after the reporting date
The entity declared a dividend of $5m on 3 March 2022. Other than this dividend, there has not arisen in the
interval between the end of the financial year and the date of issuance of the Financial Report any other item,
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect significantly
the operations of the entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the entity, in future financial
years.
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Directors’ Declaration

For the Year Ended 31 December 2021
In the opinion of the directors of Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd (the Company):
(a)

(b)

the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 13 to 54 are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December
2021 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2001, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable.

The directors draw attention to Note 1a to the financial statements, which includes a statement
of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Peter Gaydon
Chairman

Sydney
25 March 2022
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Independent auditor's report
To the members of Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd

Our opinion
ln our opinion:
The accompanying financial report of Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd (the Company) is in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 31 December 2021 and of
its financial performance for the year then ended

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations

2001.

What we have audited
The financial report comprises:

.
.
.
r
.
o

the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021
the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended
the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended
the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information
the directors' declaration.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in lhe Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
report section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical
Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including lndependence
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021, but does not include
the financial report and our auditor's report thereon.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 5z 78o 4SS7S7
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 265o, SYDNEY NSW zoor
T: +6r z8z66 oooo, F: +6t 282669999
Level tr, IPSQ, 169 Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW zr5o, PO Box rr55 Parramatta NSW zrz4
T: +61 296592476,F: +6l-282669999
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
ln connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or othenivise appears to be materially misstated.

lf, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Resoons!bi!itles of the dircetors for the financia! report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf
This description forms part of our auditor's report

Q,*

R Balding

Partner

rs

Sydney

25March2O22

Appointed Actuary’s Section 78 Report
To the Directors of Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd
In respect of the Financial Statements
31 December 2021

This report is prepared under sections 77 and 78 of the Insurance (Prudential Supervision) Act 2010
(the Act) which requires that a licensed insurer must ensure that the actuarial information contained
in, or used in the preparation of, the insurer’s financial statements is reviewed by the Appointed
Actuary. This report is in respect of the financial statements of Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd
(the Company) for the 12 month period ending on 31 December 2021.
(a) This report has been prepared by Jun Song BCom, FIAA, FNZSA; Appointed Actuary to
Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd.
(b) I have undertaken a review of the financial statements of the Company as required by Section 77
of the Act. My review has been carried out in accordance with the Solvency Standard for Life
Insurance Business 2014 (as modified by the licence conditions of the Company) (the Life
Solvency Standard) and in accordance with the New Zealand Society of Actuaries’ Professional
Standards.
(c) The actuarial information reviewed was:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

information relating to the Company’s calculations of premiums, claims, reserves,
dividends, insurance and annuity rates, and technical provisions; and
information relating to assessments of the probability of uncertain future events occurring
and the financial implications for the Company if those events do occur; and
information specified in the Life Solvency Standard as actuarial information for the
purposes of this review.

There were no restrictions or limitations placed on my work.
(d) Other than my relationship with the Company as Appointed Actuary, I am an employee of
Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd. I do not have any other relationship with, or interest in, the
Company.
(e) I obtained all of the information and explanations that I required.
(f) In my opinion and from an actuarial perspective:
(i)
the actuarial information included in the financial statements of the Company was
appropriately included in those financial statements, and
(ii)
the actuarial information used in the preparation of the financial statements of the
Company was used appropriately.
(g) As at 31 December 2021, the solvency margins that apply to Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd
and its statutory funds under conditions imposed under section 21(2)(b) and (c) of the Act are the
solvency margins calculated in accordance with the Australian equivalent of the Life Solvency
Standard. In my opinion and from an actuarial perspective, Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd
and its statutory funds maintained those solvency margins as at 31 December 2021.

Jun Song
Appointed Actuary
25 March 2022
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